
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee 

 
Date: MONDAY, 15 JANUARY 2024 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOMS, 2ND FLOOR, WEST WING, GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Alderman Timothy Hailes (Chairman) 

Deputy Shravan Joshi (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Deputy Randall Anderson 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Deputy Madush Gupta 
Caroline Haines 
Deputy Christopher Hayward 

Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Paul Martinelli 
Anett Rideg 
Tom Sleigh 
Luis Felipe Tilleria 
Philip Woodhouse 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Polly Dunn 

Polly.Dunn@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 

NB: Certain items presented for information have been marked * and will be taken without 
discussion, unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has questions 
or comments prior to the start of the meeting. These for information items have been 
collated into a supplementary agenda pack and circulated separately. 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 
ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 

 
 

3. MINUTES 
 To approve the public minutes and the non-public summary of the meeting held on 4 

December 2023. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 7 - 10) 

 
4. MANAGED PRINT SERVICE PROCUREMENT 
 Report of the Chamberlain. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 11 - 16) 

 
 

5. *GW2:  DAUNTSEY HOUSE, FREDERICKS PLACE - PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS 

 Report of the Executive Director Environment. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
6. *GW345: BEMS PHASE 1 STAGE 3 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
7. *GW5: BANK JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS: ALL CHANGE AT BANK 
 Report of the Executive Director Environment. 

 
 For Information 
  

  
 
 
 



3 
 

8. *GW6: BARBICAN CENTRE- NEW RETAIL UNIT 
 Report of the Chief Executive Officer, Barbican Centre. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 

COMMITTEE 
 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT 
  
  

 
11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) on the grounds that they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

 For Decision 
  

 
12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To approve the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 4 December 2023. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 17 - 22) 

 
13. MEDIA PLANNING AND BUYING SERVICES PROCUREMENT STAGE 1-2 

STRATEGY AND AWARD REPORT 
 Joint report of the Chamberlain, Managing Director of the City Bridge Foundation and 

Chief Executive Officer of the Barbican Centre. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 23 - 28) 

 
14. PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW 
 Report of the Chamberlain. 

 
 For Discussion 
 (Pages 29 - 72) 

 
15. *GW1-2: FREEMEN'S SCHOOL DINING HALL INTERNAL REFURBISHMENT 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
 



4 
 

16. *GW1-4: RADIO SYSTEM INFRASTRUCTURE REPLACEMENT (BARBICAN AND 
GSMD) 

 Joint report of the Chief Executive Officer, Barbican Centre and the Principal of the 
Guildhall School of Music and Drama. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
17. *GW1-4: CITY OF LONDON SCHOOL REVENUE WORKS 2024/25 (SUMMER 

WORKS 2024) 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
18. *GW3-4: CITY OF LONDON SCHOOL MASTERPLAN - CATERING PROJECT 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
19. *GW3-4: WILLIAM BLAKE ESTATE WINDOW REPLACEMENT AND COMMON 

PARTS REDECORATIONS 
 Report of the Executive Director of Community and Children’s Services. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
20. *GW4: HR, PAYROLL, FINANCE SOLUTION, ERP (ENTERPRISE RESOURCE 

PLANNING) 
 Report of the Chamberlain. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
21. *GW5 ISSUES: CITY OF LONDON PRIMARY ACADEMY ISLINGTON 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
22. *GW5 - EARLY CLOSURE: CITY FUND - REFURBISHMENT/EXTENSION OF 1-6 

BROAD STREET PLACE AND 15-17 ELDON STREET 
 Report of the City Surveyor. 

 
 For Information 
  

 
23. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB COMMITTEE 

 
 



5 
 

24. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT AND WHICH 
THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

  
  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



PROJECTS AND PROCUREMENT SUB-COMMITTEE 
Monday, 4 December 2023  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee held at 

Committee Rooms, 2nd Floor, West Wing, Guildhall on Monday, 4 December 2023 
at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Deputy Madush Gupta 
Alderman Timothy Hailes (Chairman) 
Deputy Shravan Joshi (Deputy Chairman) 
Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Luis Felipe Tilleria 
 

 
Officers: 
Polly Dunn - Assistant Town Clerk 

Genine Whitehorn 
Oliqur Chowdhury 
Michael Gwyther Jones 
 
Daria Faeti 
Sarah Baker 
Julie Mayer 

- Commercial  Director, Chamberlains 
- Commercial Lead (Environment), Chamberlains 
- Head of new Developments and Special Projects, 

Community and Children’s Services 
- Procurement and Contracts Manager, Chamberlains 
- Corporate Programme Manager, Chamberlains 
- Governance and Members Services 

 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from Randall Anderson*, Keith Bottomley, Caroline 
Haines, Christopher Hayward, Paul Martinelli, Annet Rideg, Tom Sleigh and 
Philip Woodhouse*.  
 
*Members who joined the meeting remotely   
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED, that – the minutes of the meeting held on 6th November 2023 be 
approved. 
 
Matters arising 
In response to a question about agenda item 18, the Guildhall Cooling Plant 
Replacement, the Assistant Town Clerk advised that, following changes to 
Projects Governance agreed in July 2023, the delegation was no longer in 
effect as the responsibilities of this Sub-Committee had changed. The decision 
was consequently referred to all necessary committees, who agreed proposals 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



at their respective meetings, with the exception of City Bridge Foundation, who 
considered it under urgency procedures. 
 

4. GW2: ENHANCING CHEAPSIDE PROGRAMME  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment. 
 

5. GW3/4/5: BEMS UPGRADE PHASE 2  
The Sub Committee received a report of the City Surveyor. 
 

6. GW4:CLIMATE ACTION STRATEGY - COOL STREETS AND GREENING 
PROGRAMME - PHASE 4  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment. 
 

7. GW4: ST PAUL'S EXTERNAL RE-LIGHTING  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment 
 

8. GW4: LITTLE TRINITY LANE  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment 
 

9. GW5: FLEET STREET HEALTHY STREETS PLAN  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Interim Executive Director, 
Environment 
 

10. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

11. ANY URGENT BUSINESS  
There were no items 
 

12. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
RESOLVED, that - under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 
Item No (s)    Para No (s) 
13-26     3 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED, that – the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 6th 
November 2023 be approved. 
 
 
 

Page 8



14. DITS CORPORATE LICENCE & CLOUD SERVICE PROVIDER 
PROCUREMENT  
The Sub Committee considered and approved a report of the Chief Operating 
Officer.   Members noted that ‘Institutions’ includes the Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama, the City’s Schools, the Barbican Arts Centre and London 
Councils. 
 

15. EXTENSION TO REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE CONTRACTS  
The Sub Committee considered and approved a report of the Executive 
Director, Community and Children’s Services. 
 

16. PRESTIGIOUS SITES - PROCUREMENT STAGE 1 STRATEGY REPORT  
The Sub Committee considered and approved a report of the City Surveyor 
 

17. PROCUREMENT OF PURCHASE CARD SCHEME STAGE 1-2 STRATEGY 
AND AWARD REPORT  
The Sub Committee considered and approved a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

18. PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Chief Operating Officer 
 

19. CITIGEN OPTIONS REVIEW APPROACH UPDATE  
The Sub Committee received a report of the City Surveyor 
 

20. GW2: GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC AND DRAMA HEATING COOLING 
AND VENTILATION  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Principal, Guildhall School of 
Music and Drama. 
 

21. GW3: BARBICAN RENEWAL PROGRAMME  
The Sub Committee received a joint report of the Chamberlain, the City 
Surveyor and the CEO, Barbican Centre. 
 

22. GW3/4 ART GALLERY CHILLER  
The Sub Committee received a report of the CEO, Barbican Centre. 
 

23. GW5: WINDOWS AND COMMON PARTS REDECORATIONS - GOLDEN 
LANE ESTATE  
The Sub Committee received a report of the Executive Director, Community 
and Children’s Services 
 

24. GW6: CONCERT HALL STAGE RISERS  
The Sub Committee received a report of the CEO, Barbican Centre. 
 

25. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB 
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

Page 9



26. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREES SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no items. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 2.40 pm 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Polly Dunn 
Polly.Dunn@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 10



Committee(s): 
Digital Service Committee - For Decision 
Projects & Procurement Sub-Committee – For Decision 

Dated: 
17/01/2024 
15/01/2024 

Subject: Managed Print Services Procurement Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly? 

9, 10, 12 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

No 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? Existing Local Risk 

Budgets 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Yes 

Report of: Chamberlain, Caroline Al-Beyerty For Decision 

Report author: 
Samantha Kay – DITS  
Mitchell Walker – Commercial Service 

 
Summary 

 
All departments and institutions of the City of London Corporation have a requirement 
for office scanning, printing, and copying. These services are currently provided to all 
under a single Managed Print Services agreement with Konica Minolta Business 
Solutions (UK) Ltd, valid from 01 September 2019, expiring 31 August 2024, valued at 
£3.47M.  
  
This report provides an update on activities undertaken to establish the requirements 
for these services from 01 September 2024, evaluates routes to market considering 
our usage analysis and market intelligence, and makes a recommendation on the most 
advantageous procurement strategy.  
   
The report concludes that:   

• a Managed Print Services delivery model remains most suited our strategic 
requirements.  

• that the opportunity to supply for a seven years’ term advertised at £3.5M will 
incentivise bidders to offer their best commercial, technical, and responsible 
tender submissions, which we anticipate will provide seven years’ agreement at 
the same baseline costs as the current five years’ agreement; and   

• that the Find a Tender Service Open Procedure ensures robust competition and 
an opportunity for the widest possible range of businesses to participate in a fair 
and transparent process.  

Recommendations 

 Members of Digital Services Committee are asked to: 
 

• Approve the Managed Print Services Delivery model. 
 
Members of Projects and Procurement Sub-Committee are asked to: 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



 

• Approve the recommended Procurement Strategy to undertake a Find a Tender 
Service Open Procedure, compliant to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, 
and the City of London Procurement Code, Rule 16, Contracts Letting. 
 

• Approve the proposed seven years contract duration, comprising five years initial 
contract term, with the option to extend by up to a further two years, therefore, at 
a total contract value of £3.5M 

 
Main Report 

Background 
 
1. In line with the Digital Services Strategic Roadmap and City Procurement Strategy, 

the City of London Corporation, City of London Police & all Institutional 
Departments (collectively referred to thereafter as the “City of London Corporation") 
are required to maintain a compliant contract for printing, scanning, photocopying 
and associated products and services.  
 

2. The current agreement for Managed Print Services and provision of multifunction 
devices with Konica Minolta expires on 31st August 2024. The intention is for a new 
Managed Print Service to be procured and implemented by 1st September 2024. 
The agreement was previously procured via a framework, which has now expired, 
and no further extensions are available. 

 
3. The current agreement covers products associated with Managed Print Services 

including, but not limited to, a fleet of print devices (Multi-Functional Devices 
“MFDs”, Printers) on a lease agreement basis, consumables (i.e., Toner, Staples) 
supply, large volume print devices (MFDs), specialised software for print rooms, 
software and hardware support, cloud services and an onsite fleet manager to be 
used across the City of London Corporation. 

 
4. The Contract Management of the existing agreement has been effective due to the 

reporting available from the vendor, enabling costs to be managed appropriately, 
and utilisation to be monitored and reviewed regularly. 

 
5. The devices were provided on a “Per Click” basis, which means that the printing, 

support, maintenance, and capital costs are built into the cost of each page that is 
printed. This enables the costs to be charged back to the departments based on 
their usage, therefore costs can be managed simply by reducing printing. The 
extension of the existing contract included an audit, which ensured utilisation and 
printer positioning was suitable for the business requirement post COVID, which in 
turn led to a reduction in the fleet. 

 
Current Position 
 
6. There is a Project Management resource assigned to lead on requirements 

gathering and consultations with City’s stakeholders as well as the preparation of 
the specification to ensure departmental needs are reflected.   
 

Page 12



7. A Soft Market Testing (SMT) exercise was carried out in October 2023. 11 SMT 
submissions were received allowing the City to evaluate market trends, review 
procurement options and gather of market intelligence.  

 
8. The results of the SMT showed that there has not been much change in the 

available delivery models during the term of the current contract, however, the 
Project Team will look at emerging technologies and ensuring the contract is 
sufficiently flexible and remains evergreen.  
 

9. In line with the Digital Services Strategic Roadmap, there is a requirement to 
approach the market to enable the City of London Corporation, City of London 
Police & all Institutional Departments to continue to procure these services and 
products in a compliant and cost-effective manner. 

 
Route to Market and Procurement Options:  
 
10. Commercial Services have worked alongside DITS to consider the market, via Soft 

Market Testing, which has informed the recommended route to market. 
 
Open Procedure FTS (Find-a-Tender Service) Tender – Recommended Option 
 
11. This is the recommended approach from Commercial Services. It would allow the 

entire market to bid and encourage diverse businesses to participate thus enabling 
the City to achieve best value for money. The process is fully compliant with the 
requirements of Public Contract Regulations (PCR) 2015 legislation.  

 
12. Following an engagement with the market via an extensive Soft Market Testing 

(SMT) exercise, market operators have indicated they would be interested in 
bidding regardless of our preferred route to market.11 SMT submissions were 
received. Based on this data, it is highly likely that several bids will be received 
ensuring this is a competitive process and therefore value for money is being 
achieved.  

 
13. Furthermore, the market indicated that the maximum 5-year Call Off contract length 

offered by the framework is not necessarily the most cost effective. Allowing for a 
longer contract (7 years in total) on City’s terms will not only allow us to take 
advantage of more competitive pricing, it will also allow the City to contract on City’s 
Terms and ensure the desired level of flexibility is built into the future contract.  

 
14. This option also allows more flexibility in terms of inclusion of City's Responsible 

Procurement Commitments.  
 
15. The evaluation criteria will be split into price and quality with sub-weighing applied. 

The recommended split will be as follows: Price (40%), Quality (45%) and 
Responsible Procurement (15%). 

 
Direct Award under a framework – Not Recommended 

 
16. A direct award through a framework approach would be inadvisable as it would 

stifle competition and may prevent the City of London Corporation ensuring best 

Page 13



value for money. This route would not deliver the best value for money and would 
not align with City’s Corporate, DITS and Procurement Strategies.  

 
Further Competition under a framework – Not recommended:  
 
17. This approach would restrict market operators that are not on the framework from 

bidding, meaning that best value for money may not be achieved and supplier 
diversity would be reduced.  

 
18. Following a review of the available public sector frameworks, the call-off lengths 

aren’t favourable in terms of maximum years (5). Replacing MFD equipment every 

5 years would cause significant disruption and resource pressures for the City of 

London Corporation. 

 
19. There are several suppliers on both Crown Commercial Services (CCS), (Multi-

functional Devices (MFDs), Print and Digital Workflow Software Services and 
Managed Print Service Provision) and Crescent Purchasing Consortium (CPC), 
(Multifunctional Devices and Digital Transformation Solutions) frameworks, 
including the incumbent, which have been awarded under a thorough and 
competitive procurement exercise. All frameworks are fully Public Contract 
Regulations (PCR) 2015 compliant. 

 
20. The maximum call-off contract length via the CCS framework is 5-years and this is 

neither sufficient regarding the duration nor does not allow testing the market fully.  
 

21. Frameworks do not allow for as robust contractual flexibility as contracting on City’s 
Terms does. This means that City’ Responsible Procurement and Social Value 
goals might not be as well represented and achieved should a framework route to 
market be chosen as opposed to electing to procure via an Open Procedure.  
 

Proposal 
 
22. Commercial Services recommend running an Open FTS Tender. As stated above, 

this will provide the City with Commercial, Technical and Responsible Procurement 
benefits. 

 
23. Members are asked to approve the recommended route to market of an Open FTS 

Tender to enable DITS and Commercial Services to ensure the Agreement is 
compliant and provides the best commercial value to the City of London 
Corporation in the required timeframe. The aim would be to take the Contract 
Award Report through the Committee cycle in March/April 2024.    

 
Key Data 

 
24.  Based on current usage levels, the value of a future contract is estimated to be 

£3,500,000 over a 7-year period. The agreement is proposed for an initial period of 
5 years with a 2-year extension option. Implementation costs will be identified 
during the tender process therefore potentially increasing the contract sum and 
requirements for additional funding. The procurement would include the City of 
London Corporation, City of London Police, and all Institutional Departments. 

 

Page 14



25. Consultations are taking place with stakeholders across the City of London 
Corporation, City of London Police, and Institutional Departments to ensure the 
specification reflects the needs of all parts of the organisation.  

 
Corporate & Strategic Implications  
 

Strategic implications – In order to maintain alignment with the DITS and Commercial 
Strategies the proposal will ensure compliance with all Procurement Regulations as well 
as benefit from aggregation and utilisation of economies of scale. 

Financial implications – Following advice from Commercial Services, a full Open FTS 
procurement will ensure that the future contract provides the City Corporation with value 
for money. 

Resource implications - Following advice from Commercial Services, running an Open 
FTS procurement will streamline the procurement process and ensure that the resource 
impact of the procurement exercise is minimised. 

Legal implications – DITS will work closely with Commercial Services and colleagues in 
Comptroller and City Solicitors to ensure that the future agreement is legally compliant.  

Risk implications – This procurement is considered to be low risk, as the required 
services are clearly defined and well established. 

Equalities implications – None 

Climate implications – Responsible Procurement will form part of the Tender Structure. 
Carbon metrics will be included to ensure the City has a robust reporting regime in place.  

Security implications - None 

 
Conclusion 
 
26. DITS require a new contract to supply Managed Print Services, including multi-

functional devices (540) across 34 different postal codes, belonging to the City of 
London, City of London Police, and Institutional Departments. 
 

27. Commercial Services and DITS have reviewed the routes to market available to 
transact these products and services and recommend an Open FTS Tender as the 
preferable route to market due to several factors, including achieving best value for 
money and further flexibility of the terms and conditions due to them being 
produced and owned by the City of London Corporation. 
 

Appendices 
 

• none 
 
Samantha Kay 
Head of DITS Business Management 
T: 07817 411176 
E: samantha.kay@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
Mitchell Walker 
Procurement & Contracts Manager 
T: 020 7332 4961 

Page 15

mailto:samantha
mailto:.kay@cityoflondon.gov.uk


E: Michell.walker@cityoflondon.gov.uk  

Page 16

mailto:Michell.walker@cityoflondon.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 23

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 29

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 47

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Managed Print Service Procurement
	12 Non-Public Minutes
	13 Media Planning and Buying Services Procurement Stage 1-2 Strategy and Award Report
	14 Portfolio Overview
	APP 3 DASHBOARD January 2024
	APP 4 2023 December Portfolio by Service Committee
	APP 5 MPMO Combined Dashboard
	APP 6 Portfolio Management Impl


